REVISED
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
This meeting will be held in line
with the Local Authorities & Police
& Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority &
Police & Crime Panel Meetings)
(England & Wales) Regulations
2020.
The meeting will be held virtually
via Zoom and streamed live, via
the following link:

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
07867 464450
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

24 July 2020

www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial
/

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held virtually, as detailed above, on
Wednesday, 29 July 2020, commencing at 6.30 pm at which your attendance is
requested.
Yours faithfully,

Anna Graves
Chief Executive
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 13 May
2020 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
5 - 12)

3.

Declarations of Interest
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest and then leave the meeting without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

4.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

5.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

6.

Workforce Strategy 2019-2023 (revised following CV19)
To consider a revised workforce strategy following CV19 (report of
Councillor Tracey Carter and Chief Executive enclosed).

(Pages
13 - 48)

7.

Special Urgency - Non-Key Decisions - Application of Call-In
To report to Council reasons for urgency relating to a number of NonKey Decisions, as required by the Council’s Constitution (Report of the
Executive Manager – Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer enclosed).

(Pages
49 - 54)

8.

Report from Cabinet meetings held on 16 June 2020 and 21 July 2020
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
55 - 82)

a) Re-opening of South Holland's Markets, and Spalding Market Stall
provision-To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South
Holland and market stall provision at Spalding market. Considered first
at Cabinet on 16 June 2020 (Cabinet minute 9) (Cabinet agenda items 9
and exempt agenda item 12) and reconsideration of this item at Cabinet
on 21 July 2020 (Cabinet minute 15)(Cabinet agenda items 5a and
exempt agenda item 11);
(Please note that a number of appendices to this report are not for
publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any
individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda at item 12).
b) Resourcing of the Council's Housing Development Team - To set out
a proposal concerning the resourcing of the Council's Housing
Development service which will bring two additional Housing
Development Project Manager posts into the establishment to align with
the authority's ambition to build new council houses and deliver new
homes through its housing companies. Considered at Cabinet on 21
July 2020 (Cabinet minute 17)(Cabinet agenda item 7)

9.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

10.

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

Pavement Cafe Licensing
To consider delegating to the Lincolnshire County Council authority to
discharge all functions relating to pavement licences under sections 1 to
9 of the Business and Planning Act 2020 (report of the Portfolio Holder
for Public Protection and Licensing and Business Support Manager
enclosed).

(Pages
83 - 86)

(Please note that this item was not included on the Agenda
published on 21st July 2020. This is an urgent item added on the
approval of the Chairman and on 24th July 2020).
11.

To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraphs1,3 and 5 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act.

12.

Report from the Cabinet meeting held on 16th June 2020 and 21 July
2020 - Re-opening of South Holland Markets and Spalding Market Stall
provision (Exempt Appendices)
To consider exempt appendices to the report at agenda item 8.

(Pages
87 - 94)

13.

COVID Implications on the leisure operating contract
To consider and provide feedback on a decision to be taken by the
Leader of the Council in respect of the contractual position and range of
potential options for the leisure management contract (Report of the
Leader and Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages
95 110)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
-1-

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in line
with the Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local
Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on
Wednesday, 13 May 2020 at 7.00 pm.
PRESENT
F Biggadike (Chairman)
P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
H J W Bingham
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland
A C Cronin
T A Carter
A Casson
H Drury

R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson
R Grocock
M Hasan
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds
G T D Rudkin

G P Scalese
M D Seymour
S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf
C N Worth

In Attendance: , Chief Executive, Shared Executive Director Commercialisation
(S151), Executive Manager - Governance, Democratic Services Manager,
Communications Manager, Democratic Services Team Leader, Place Manager and
Communications Officer
Action By

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.
There were none.

2.

MINUTES
That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 February 2020 be
signed as a correct record as soon as reasonably practical after
the meeting.

3.

SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDER NO. 5
Consideration was given to the suspension of Standing Order No.
5 (Standard Order of Business) in order to focus on only the most
necessary business.

Page 5

-2SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

DECISION:
that Standing Order No. 5 be suspended.
4.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
There were none.

5.

QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER
6
There were none.

6.

QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING
ORDER 7
Question to: Portfolio Holder for Place, Councillor GambbaJones
Question from: Councillor Newton
Topic: Garden waste disposal
Councillor Newton advised that residents who joined the waiting
list for a brown garden waste bin in February have still not
received a bin. Although Councillor Newton has advised
residents that the Council are prioritising tasks due to COVID-19,
which is the reason for the delay, will it be possible to provide a
timescale for when they can join the scheme?
The individuals live in an area where the purple bag scheme is
not applicable. Under the circumstances, will it be possible for
them to purchase the purple bags as a temporary alternative?
Councillor Gambba-Jones advised that new entries to the garden
waste scheme were suspended due to COVID-19 priorities but
this is currently under review. Opportunities will be available to
open more slots in the near future. If the individuals are on the
waiting list, they will shortly be invited to join the scheme.
Individuals are being encouraged to purchase paper sacks
instead of the purple plastic bags.

7.

REPORT FROM CABINET MEETING ON 17 MARCH 2020
Consideration was give to the recommendations of the Cabinet in

Page 6

-3SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

respect of the 2019/20 Financial Report Quarter 3 which provided
information on the quarter 3 (to 31 December 2019) financial
position of the Council (Cabinet minute 92/19) (Cabinet agenda
item 8).
The Portfolio Holder for Finance highlighted the following:


That Councillor Alcock had raised a query at the Cabinet
meeting and this had been addressed.



That the General Fund overspend was due to additional
Homelessness costs and reduced Planning Income.

Councillor Alcock reported that he had received an explanation
but was not sure if other Members had been made aware. He
also questioned whether attendees at the Cabinet meeting were
noted. The Portfolio Holder for Finance reported that attendees
should have been noted and will be added if they have been
omitted.
DECISION:
1) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital
programme be approved as set out in tables 5 and 7 of the
attached appendix.
2) That the Planning Fee income shortfall and additional
Homelessness costs of £600k be funded from the Council Tax
Reserve.
8.

CORONAVIRUS- EMERGENCY GOVERNANCE MEASURES
Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Strategy
and Governance (Monitoring Officer) to consider emergency
Governance measures in relation to (i) the determination of
planning applications; (ii) the determination of taxi licensing
applications; (iii) virtual meetings; (iv) the peacetime emergency
delegation to the Chief Executive; and (v) vacation of office by
failure to attend meetings.
The Director of Strategy and Governance highlighted the following
areas:




The proposed delegations supplement but do not replace
existing committee powers.
Where any member is unable to attend a meeting for a
period of six months, such absence can only be authorised
by the Council in advance of expiry of that period.
In light of experience of the roll-call method of voting

Page 7

-4SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

adopted during the meeting, the Executive Manager for
Governance proposed that the Council might wish to
delegate authority to him to make a further amendment to
Standing Orders, enabling the Chairman to exercise
discretion to allow voting by a show of hands or use of a
voting system.
Councillor Alcock asked whether the officer delegations could be
brought to an end early, should a return to physical meetings be
possible within the next six months. The Executive Manager for
Governance responded that the delegations would not prevent
committees from exercising their usual powers, but that a further
report could be presented to Council terminating the delegations
early.
Councillor Alcock asked whether an applicant retains the right of
appeal for non-determination of an application. The Executive
Manager for Governance confirmed that this was the case –
assuming that agreement could not be reached to extend the
period for determination.
Councillor Alcock asked how any member request for
determination by the Planning Committee would assessed and
determined. The Executive Manager for Governance responded
that the Chairman’s Panel would consider any application ‘called
in’ for determination by the Committee. The Officer exercising
delegated authority would be required to give significant weight to
the view of the Panel before deciding whether to exercise his/her
delegation. The application would likely be held back for
committee but ultimately the decision lies with the officer.
Councillor Alcock asked how a request by the Chairman’s Panel
to refer an application to Committee would be assessed and
determined. The Executive Manager for Governance confirmed
that the Panel can, of its own volition, suggest that an application
is referred to Planning Committee for determination. Again, the
officer concerned would have to give significant weight to the view
of the Panel before deciding whether to exercise his/her
delegated authority.
Councillor Alcock asked who would decide whether an application
raises novel or contentious planning issues, and whether this
would be restricted to the opinion of officers. The Executive
Manager for Governance advised that this would be a matter for
the officer. However, members do retain the right of call-in so if
members felt there were particular material planning
considerations which were potentially novel or contentious issues,
they could call-in the application.

Page 8

-5SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

Councillor Walsh asked whether it would be considered prudent
to record votes for transparency and clarity, especially with the
potential for IT issues. The Executive Manager for Governance
replied that the new Standing Orders proposed in the report
currently require (for non-regulatory committees) voting by rollcall. For regulatory committees, such as Planning Committee or
Licensing Committee, those proposed Standing Orders require
decisions to be by recorded vote.
Councillor Walsh asked whether the Council’s use of virtual
meetings sends a conflicting message to those returning to work
under social distancing rules. He considered that the Chamber
was a very large space and could easily enable a number of
meetings, obeying social distancing rules. He pointed out that the
new regulations allow virtual meetings but they do not compel
them. The Executive Manager for Governance replied that it is a
matter of judgement in terms of health and safety and a decision
to be taken in light of the prevailing guidance. At the moment, the
Guidance suggests that meetings and gatherings in workplaces
should be avoided.
Councillor Newton asked whether members generally would be
invited to attend virtual Chairman’s Panel meetings. The
Executive Manager for Governance replied that, at the moment,
the proposal is that only the three Panel members and relevant
ward members would attend and participate. However, an invite
to view the proceedings would be sent to other members of the
Planning Committee. In addition, the agenda (setting out which
planning matters are to be considered by the Panel) would be
sent to all members so that they are all aware of which
applications are being taken to the Panel. Members may then
feed in either directly through the normal process or via the ward
member or via the Panel. Members can also contact the case
officer direct.
DECISION:
1. Determination of planning applications
(a) That the protocol/delegation for determination of planning
applications, as set out in Appendix A, be approved initially for a
temporary period of six months (unless subsequently extended by
decision of the Council), following which the Council reverts to the
existing delegations;
(b) That, should the officer with delegated authority be unwilling to
determine an
application then applications be deferred so far as possible;
(c) That, as soon as the Director of Place (or during Covid19

Page 9

-6SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

response the Executive Director of Commercialisation), in
consultation with the Leader and the Chairman of the Planning
Committee, considers that a meeting of the Planning Committee
should be held (whether physically or virtually) appropriate
applications be put to the Committee for determination;
(d) That the potential for holding a virtual committee be kept under
review, taking into account any Government announcements in
respect of the current lockdown;
(e) That the Constitution be amended as shown in Appendix B,
such amendments to apply for 6 months up to but not including 13
November 2020, (unless subsequently extended by decision of
the Council), the amendments then to be removed from the
Constitution without a further report.
(f) That, prior to any meeting of the Planning Committee that may
be held whilst social distancing requirements remain in place, the
Director of Place (or during Covid19 response the Executive
Director of Commercialisation) be authorised to amend the rules
and procedures for public speaking at the Committee in order to
ensure suitable governance at a virtual meeting or to protect the
health and safety of those physically in attendance.
2) Taxi licensing - That, initially for a period of 6 months (unless
subsequently extended by decision of the Council), following
which the Council will revert to the existing delegations, the Public
Protection Manager, the Licensing and Business Support
Manager and the Licensing Team Leader be given delegated
authority to refuse, where considered appropriate, any application
for a hackney carriage drivers' or vehicle licence, or a private hire
drivers', vehicle or operators' licence under sections 60, 61 and
62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
subject to:
no officer with any interest in any matter taking any part in the
determination of that matter; and
consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee; or
if the Chairman of the Licensing Committee is not available,
consultation with the Vice Chairman; or
In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman,
consultation with a member of the pool of 15 members who serve
on the Licensing Committee where possible.
and where this may represent a departure from any existing
licensing policy or procedure, such policy or procedure be
deemed to be amended accordingly for the duration of this
delegation.
3) Virtual meetings - that the amendments to the Council's
Standing Orders and Access to Information Procedure Rules, set
out in Appendix C, be approved and the Constitution be
amended accordingly, such amendments (with the exception of

Page 10

-7SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 13 May 2020

the proposed amendment to Standing Order no. 14.1) to apply up
to but not including 7 May 2021, or such longer period as the law
allows virtual meetings to be held, the amendments then to be
removed from the Constitution without a further report.
4) Emergency delegation to the Chief Executive - that the
proposed amendments to the emergency delegation to the Chief
Executive, shown in Appendix D, be approved, and the
Constitution be amended accordingly.
5) Vacation of office due to failure to attend meeting - that
where any member fails throughout a period of six consecutive
months to attend any meeting of the authority, including where an
executive member fails to attend any meeting of the Executive or
to take any executive decision, such failure be an approved
absence due to the coronavirus peacetime emergency under
section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Standing Order
no. 56, up to and including the date of the Annual Council meeting
in 2021.
6) That the Executive Manager for Governance be granted
delegated authority to amend the new Standing Orders relating to
virtual meetings in order to give the Chairman discretion to call for
a vote (i) using an electronic voting function; or (ii) by a virtual
show of hands; or (iii) by a physical show of hands
9.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE
URGENT
There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.58pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Tracey Ann Carter and Chief Executive

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 29 July 2020

(Author:

Claire Burton HR Manager (Spalding))

Subject

Workforce Strategy 2019-2023 (revised following CV19)

Purpose:

To approve changes to the Workforce Strategy (2019-2023)

Recommendation(s):
1) That the Workforce Strategy 2019 -2023 (revised following CV19) be approved.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In 2019 we published the current Workforce Strategy. Changes have been made to this
document following the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.2

Our established People Plan addresses the behaviours, values and culture that we want to
achieve as an organisation. The Workforce Strategy takes into account the aims of the
People Plan and links to and supports the Council’s strategic priorities as part of the
Corporate Plan. It details how our workforce needs to be shaped to deliver the outcomes
we have agreed and makes sure we have the right people, with the right skills, in the right
role
and
performing
the
right
tasks
to
support
those
priorities.

2.0

REASONS FOR THE CHANGES

2.1

There are a number of factors which have influenced why we need to review the Strategy:

2.2

External influences are unavoidable and the world of work has evolved over the last
decade, and especially over the last 4 months with a rapid shift to working remotely during
the COVID-19 pandemic. It is important staff wellbeing is protected and we promote a
positive working environment and people who are motivated, valued and have a good
work/life balance.

2.3

We want to continue to support, develop and grow our workforce to be fit for purpose and
for future growth and change. Our workforce strategy aims to meet the needs of all our staff
and looks at a variety of ways in which we support and develop our people, so they are the
best they can be to deliver for our community.

2.4

We want to be a competitive and attractive local employer and clear about the skills and
behaviours that we want to attract.

2.5

We want to maximise our investments in technology, grasp the opportunity of modern ways
of working and have the people skilled in this way of working as appropriate.

Page 13

2.6

Finally, we want to be an employer that welcomes diversity, offering flexibility and
opportunities and working arrangements to attract the best talent regardless of age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy, maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

3.0

CHANGES TO THE WORKFORCE STRATEGY

3.1

The next few paragraphs detail the changes which have been made;

3.2

The opening sections of the Strategy have been extended to include the factors described
earlier in the report about the type of employer we want to be and why we need to change.

3.3

Rather than limit our thinking to just the ‘Generation of our Workforce’ this part of the
Strategy has been expanded to consider how we manage a ‘Diverse Workforce’.
Previously we talked about the different generation split in our organisation, and while that
is still important and relevant, continuing to work in an agile manner opens up new
opportunities for us to attract a more diverse workforce. By offering flexibility means we can
accommodate a range of opportunities and working arrangements to attract the best talent
and can open up new opportunities for our current and potential workforce. For example,
having the option to work remotely for someone with a disability makes employment more
possible if they do not need to attend the office 5 days a week. We also need to consider
how we engage better with our ‘manual’ workforce acknowledging we have very different
types of workforce at South Holland.

3.4

The next section looks at ‘What our workforce needs to look like in the future’ whereby we
need to create a culture where we trust and empower our staff and make sure they are
performance focussed and we manage them based on outcomes regardless of when and
where they work. The Strategy describes how we need to be innovative in the way we
utilise our staff and put our communities first while still making sure our workforce are
connected and motivated.

3.5

Finally, the Action Plan gives the detail of what we need to do to achieve what we have set
out in earlier parts of the Strategy. The actions are in addition to the ones we already
committed to in the original Strategy that was published in 2019. A summary of some of
the new actions include:

3.5.1 Development of programmes to support managers and individuals in agile working,
resilience, staying digitally connected, being outcome focused in their delivery and to
correctly balance the need for face to face collaboration and agile working. The pattern of
working in an agile manner and face to face will very much depend on the job role, for
example, currently those carrying out food inspections carry out their first inspection directly
from home once a business has opened meaning a slightly later start time but allowing
them to fit further inspections in later into the evening after core hours providing an
enhanced service to the business.
3.5.2 How we will work with Members and provide some further Member Development. There
are some great tools we can share so that Members can really enhance the way they
engage digitally with their residents and members of staff.
3.5.3

A ‘promise’ or ‘Charter’ to be developed to set out how officers will work with Members
while agile working.

Page 14

3.5.4 Making sure we respond to customer need and enhance the customer experience by
ensuring our staff continue to be more digital to deliver services whilst also maintaining face
to face support where that is most appropriate.
3.5.5

Promoting a culture whereby work is something you do rather than a place you go and this
is considered for each role and individual. You go places to network and collaborate.

3.5.6

Review how we best engage with all staff and bring them along in our journey – this must
be for both manual and non-manual staff to feel well informed on our strategic aims and
they understand what it means for them, their role and their objectives.

3.5.7 Services to complete a ‘CV-19 Lessons learned’ exercise - review the new ways of working,
what processes need to be kept or changed and how this can enhance the customer
experience to include:
-

building on cross service working/collaborations
new skills of team members obtained
where are our skills gaps/pinch points for our new ways of working
what great practices can we replicate
be ‘digital by design’ to avoid any duplication of work or unnecessary manual tasks
so staff are focusing on value added work

4.0

OPTIONS

4.1

Do nothing

4.2

Approve the changes to the Workforce Strategy

5.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1

The world of work has particularly evolved over the last 4 months with a rapid shift to
working remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is important we trust and empower our
staff and make sure they are performance focussed and we manage them based on
outcomes regardless of when and where they work.

5.2

We must respond to changing customer needs and enhance the customer experience by
ensuring our staff continue to be more digital to deliver services whilst also maintaining face
to face support where that is most appropriate.

6.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1

To become an employer of choice, attract diverse candidates and have an open and
inclusive culture where everyone is accepted.

6.2

A culture change to enable greater organisational agility and innovation.

6.3

Retain current staff ensuring they are motivated, healthy and productive

Page 15

6.4

Enhance the customer experience delivering services in a way that fits with their changing
needs.

6.5

Monetary savings due to increased efficiencies as a result of agile working.

7.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

7.1
7.1.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
Working in a more digital and agile fashion would reduce commutable and business travel,
reducing overall carbon footprint.

7.2
7.2.1

Corporate Priorities
The Workforce Strategy details how our workforce needs to be shaped to deliver the
outcomes we have agreed as part of the Corporate Priorities.

7.3
7.3.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
The changes to the Strategy allows us to become a more diverse and inclusive employer.

7.4
7.4.1

Financial
There is no financial impact however working in an agile fashion will instead create cost
savings.

7.5
7.5.1

Health & Wellbeing
The changes to the Strategy allow employees the opportunity to lead balanced and healthy
lives.

7.6
7.6.1

Reputation
Becoming an employer of choice and enhancing how we provide services to our community
in turn enhances our reputation as a Council.

7.7
7.7.1

Staffing
Employees have more choice about where and when they work, subject to business
considerations. Employees are able to maintain a healthy work-life-balance where their
work delivery is focussed on results.

8.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1

All wards/communities affected

Page 16

9.0

ACRONYMS

9.1

None used.

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Claire Burton HR Manager (Spalding)
01775 764458
Claire.Burton@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Workforce Strategy 2019 - 2023
Appendix B
Workforce Strategy 2019 - 2023 (revised following CV-19)

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 19

1

Executive Summary
We believe all of our employees are talented and we want to make sure we are supporting,
developing and growing our workforce to be fit for purpose and for future growth. Our
workforce strategy needs to meet the needs of all our staff and will look at a variety of ways
in which we support and develop our people as well as the reasons why we need a
workforce strategy and what we will be committing to as an organisation.
The external influences are unavoidable and we have to acknowledge that the world of
work has evolved hugely over the last decade. The needs of our staff and the onus on us as
an employer have dramatically shifted. We have transformed recently but change is
business as usual these days and we need to ensure our employees are equipped for the
vision the council has and the strategic aims it wants to achieve.
Recruitment in the public sector has become increasingly challenging in a tight labour
market where there are more jobs than skilled people available to do them, in addition to
the market constraints, the public sector cannot compete with private sector salaries. The
local context of the rural area of South Holland means our offices are based in an area which
people need to travel to for work. Our immediate surroundings have poor social mobility so
we need to attract skilled candidates; this is not a unique problem for local government,
particularly district councils.
External influences impact our current and future workforce and we need to plan for these,
for example, we know that by 2020 there will be more women in the workforce than ever;
we need to plan for our workforce of the future.
The workforce strategy looks at:


What a workforce strategy is and why it is important to have one



Our current workforce profile



What we want our workforce to look like in the future and the rationale for this



What our priorities are to achieve this and the associated actions



What will be different when we do these and how the future looks

What is a Workforce Strategy?
A workforce strategy links to and supports the Council’s strategic priorities by identifying
how our workforce needs to be shaped in order to deliver the outcomes we have agreed.
The workforce strategy helps us ensure we have the right people, with the right skills, in the
right role and performing the right tasks to support our strategic priorities. The workforce

Page 20

2

strategy provides a framework as to how we will achieve the vision set out in the corporate
plan and ensure we have the right workforce in place to achieve our goals.
“Workforce planning is a process of analysing the current workforce, determining future
workforce needs, identifying the gap between the present and the future, and implementing
solutions so that an organisation can accomplish its mission, goals, and strategic plan. It’s
about getting the right number of people with the right skills employed in the right place at
the right time, at the right cost and on the right contract to deliver an organisation’s short
and long‐term objectives.”
Workforce planning from the CIPD

Why do we need a one?
There are a number of reasons why we need to have a workforce strategy:


The climate in which we operate is changing. We are receiving less funding and
guaranteed finances than ever before and we need to ensure we are using our
finances wisely. Our people are our biggest asset and cost and we have to get it
right.



As a district council we have statutory and regulatory services that we have to carry
out, these services require specialist skills and we need to ensure we have the right
workforce and skills to fulfil these obligations, as well as succession planning to
develop and retain these skills.



We need to be more commercial to generate income and this means we need a
workforce which are capable of doing that. This is a unique skill set that hasn’t
needed to be as prevalent in local government until recently.



We have had a transformation programme which is now complete and has delivered
savings and improvements but we need to be continually transforming; change is the
norm now and we need our people to be open to change and skilled in implementing
change effectively in all areas.



The need to be commercially astute means we need an adaptable workforce. Gone
are the days when somebody had a specific discipline and they just carried out that
work. We need to utilise all the skills we have internally as well as attracting new
ones and that means our people being adaptable and flexible in the way they work
and the type of work they get involved in. Our people have a wealth of talents and
skills and we need to be using them.



We have a complex shared arrangement between our two councils and therefore
our workforce needs to support that shared arrangement, we have both place-based

Page 21

3

roles and shared roles, and the balance between those needs and roles needs
consideration when recruiting and developing talent
Our established people plan which addresses the behaviours, values and culture that we
want to achieve as an organisation was written during our transformation period, so it
responds to our need to change at that time. This workforce strategy takes into account the
aims of the people plan and interprets them in the strategy; it also aligns to our new
corporate plan which will run for the same period as our workforce strategy.

Page 22

4

Our Current Workforce Profile

Page 23

5

Workforce Split by Generation at 31 March 2019
40%
35%
35%

32.50%
30%

30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%

2.50%
0

0%
Traditionalist

Baby boomers (1946- Generation X (1965 - Generation Y (1977 - Generation Z ( after
1964)
1976)
1997)
1997)

Our workforce profile tells us that the majority of our workforce are “generation y” or
“millennials” as they’re known commonly, although this is closely followed by “Baby
boomers” and “Generation X”. The demands and expectations of “millennials” is that they
have a different view of work and we need to create a modern approach to work in order to
attract and retain these skills. In the CIPD’s 2018 UK working lives survey they cited 7 areas
of job quality;
1. Money
2. Terms of employment
3. Job design & nature of work
4. Social support
5. Health & wellbeing
6. Work-life balance
7. Voice & representation
What do the modern workforce want?








A good work-life balance so they can also undertake activities important to them
A working environment that has appropriate technology, tools and facilities
A supportive Manager who listens to them
Flexible working so they can work where and when suits them
Support from their employer in terms of mental and physical wellbeing
A flexible reward package
A job where they can see the difference they are making

Page 24

6

We know that we need to adapt as an employer and implement positive changes to respond
to our changing workforce.

Our Values and Behaviours
The Workforce Strategy plays a critical role in developing our culture and ensuring
progressive, sustainable and a healthy working environment for our staff. Our values and
behaviours are at the heart of this and how our staff do things is as important as what we
do. Values – we believe in:

What does our Workforce need to look like in the future?
We need to be proactive in how we are utilising our current workforce and how we attract
skills into the organisation in response to the services we deliver and to achieve our
corporate aims. This means focusing on 6 key themes to achieve this:
Themes:
1
2
3
4
5
6

Recruitment and Retention
Developing our People
Have a happy, healthy workforce
Pay and Reward
Leadership
Organisational Change and Development

Page 25

7

Theme

Action

Outcome/How we will do this

1.
Recruitment
and Retention

Review the
recruitment policy
and procedure

 To make sure the approach is up to date and fits our
culture and values
 A robust and future proof approach to recruitment
and selection that enables us to recruit the best
candidates

Modernise the
application process

 An improved, more user-friendly, streamlined system
 More flexibility for internal users.
 A more professional first impression for prospective
candidates

Growing our Own
Talent

• Succession planning for our apprenticeships
 Return on our investment in apprenticeships.
 Creation of development opportunities for existing
employees.
 Ensure we have a succession plan in place.
 Increased investment in the local economy
community by offering development roles enabling
them to stay in the District.
• Develop strong partnership with education and
training providers.
 Enable us to recruit to posts that are traditionally
difficult to fill.

Develop a greater
awareness of what
career
opportunities there
are in Local
Government

 Promote employment, work experience, graduate
and apprenticeship opportunities to the local
community and students.

Work to increase
the diversity of the
workforce

 Develop our approach to agile working

 Promoting SHDC as a local employer of choice.

 Look to increase our Disability Confident status

Page 26

8

 Broaden our offer of work placements to those with
specific difficulties and explore how this progresses
into employment. To ensure we draw staff from the
whole community so we do not miss out on valuable
skills
 To support the retention of current staff

2. Developing
Our People

3. Healthy,
Happy
Workforce

Develop and
implement a talent
management
programme

 To motivate and retain talented employees.

Develop and
implement a
mentoring scheme

 To motivate and retain talented employees.

Invest in our
employees to allow
them to develop in
current roles and
for promotion
opportunities

 Make use of the Apprenticeship Levy and Corporate
Training Budget to fund professional qualifications

Develop coaching
opportunities to
support managers
and staff in their
development

 Improvement in the development and performance
of staff through a culture of coaching

Produce a WellBeing Strategy

 To promote a wellbeing culture throughout the
organisation.

 To maximise potential to mutually benefit individuals

 Inspire experienced employees to mentor

• To make sure employees are aware of how we can
support their individual wellbeing.
 Contribute towards our ambition to be a great place
to work.
 Reduced sickness levels below the sector average
To deliver a
programme of
themed events to

 To promote a wellbeing culture throughout the
organisation.

Page 27

9

promote
engagement with
the wellbeing
agenda
Review existing
employee support
arrangements and
consider an
enhanced offering.
Build resilience and
energy among our
staff and partners
to enable change
and deliver our
priorities.
Promote a Healthy
Work Life Balance

Sign up to the
Mindful Employer
Charter

 To support employees who deal with upsetting or
traumatic cases.
 Welfare of our employees protected.
 By training, mentoring, coaching our employees,
providing shadowing opportunities so they
understand how to deal with different scenarios.

 Develop and promote different ways of working to
ensure a healthy work life balance.

 To promote an organisation-wide understanding of
mental health issues and enable managers to
effectively support their teams.
 Reduced sickness levels below the sector average.

4. Pay and
Reward

 Employee wellbeing supported at an individual level
Consider our
 To ensure we are innovative and current in our
current benefits and
approach to help us attract and retain particularly in
reward package
those areas where there are skill shortages
Meet with senior
 To make sure that service leads are supported and
managers regularly
encouraged to consider new ways of working.
to identify how
organisational
 To prevent organisation structures from inhibiting
structures can
progress and allow career progression and succession
support career
planning.
progression and
high quality
services.
We will recognise
 To make sure PDR’s/One to One’s are carried out
great work and
effectively
ideas; whilst dealing
with poorly
 Implementation of an Honorarium Policy
performing
employees fairly,
supportively and

Page 28

10

5. Leadership

6.
Organisation
Change and
Development

robustly
Make sure
employees
understand the
totality of their
employment
package.
Ensure our leaders
are equipped to
lead teams through
challenges and
opportunities for
21st century

 Employees feel valued for their contribution

 Use the apprenticeship standards in leadership and
management
 Maximise the return on investment of the levy.

Ensure our
mentoring scheme
allows our aspiring
individuals

 To develop our workforce to be leaders of the future

Upskill our
managers in
Commercialism and
Partnership
Working skills
Develop an
induction
programme for
managers

 To ensure our managers have the skills to adapt to
the changing focus of local government

Explore new ways
of working that
continue to
modernise the
working culture of
local government

 Develop an Agile Working programme

 To ensure new managers have all the tools to enable
them to lead their teams effectively and ensure
develop individuals to be the best they can be.

 To help us make best use of modern technology
giving people more control over how, when and
where they work; allowing us to use the free space
commercially, as well as creating a more agile and
adaptable workforce

Page 29

11

This page is intentionally left blank

WORKFORCE
STRATEGY
2019 - 2023
Revised July 2020
following COVID-19

Page 31

Workforce
Strategy
03

Executive Summary

04

What is a Workforce Strategy?

05

Why do we need one?

06

Our Current Workforce Profile

08

Managing a Diverse Workforce

10

Our Values and Behaviours

10

What does our Workforce need to look like?

11

Action Plan

Page 32

02

Executive Summary
We want to continue to support, develop and grow our workforce to be fit for purpose and

How did our
staff
and looks
at a variety of ways in which we support and develop our people, so they are
socil
media
the best they can be to deliver for our community.
landscape
look like in
The external influences are unavoidable and we have to acknowledge that the world of
Q2,
2019?hugely over the last decade and more so than ever with the rapid shift to
work
has evolved
for future growth and change. Our workforce strategy needs to meet the needs of all our

working differently during the COVID-19 pandemic. The needs of our staff and the onus on
us as an employer have dramatically shifted. We have transformed rapidly to accommodate
change and as we continue to evolve, we need to ensure our employees are equipped for
the vision the council has and the strategic aims it wants to achieve. We want to maximise
our investments in technology, grasp the opportunity of modern ways of working and have
the people skilled in this way of working as appropriate. It is important staff well-being is
protected and we promote a positive working environment with people who are motivated,
valued and have a good work/life balance.

Recruitment in the public sector has become increasingly challenging in a tight labour
market where there are more jobs than skilled people available to do them, in addition to
the market constraints, the public sector cannot compete with private sector salaries. It is
important that we continue to build on our agile working culture to address locality and
diversity factors. We need to ensure we offer flexibility and can accommodate a range of
opportunities and working arrangements to attract the best talent regardless of age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy, maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

External influences impact our current and future workforce and we need to plan for these,
for example, the impact of COVID-19 has changed people’s priorities and so we need to
establish the new normal when it comes to accommodating the shift in views and
requirements of our workforce.

Page 33

03

What is a Workforce Strategy?
What’s our
identifying
how our workforce needs to be shaped in order to deliver the outcomes we
best traffichave agreed. The workforce strategy helps us ensure we have the right people, with the
generating
right skills, in the right role and performing the right tasks to support our strategic
social media
priorities. The workforce strategy provides a framework as to how we will achieve the
channel?
vision
set out in the corporate plan and ensure we have the right workforce in place to
A workforce strategy links to and supports the Council’s strategic priorities by

achieve our goals.

“Workforce planning is a process of analysing the current workforce, determining
future workforce needs, identifying the gap between the present and the future, and
implementing solutions so that an organisation can accomplish its mission, goals,
and strategic plan. It’s about getting the right number of people with the right skills
employed in the right place at the right time, at the right cost and on the right
contract to deliver an organisation’s short and long ‐ term objectives.”
Workforce planning from the CIPD

Page 34

04

Why do we need one?
There are a number of reasons why we need to have a workforce strategy:

The climate in which we operate is changing. We are receiving less funding and
guaranteed finances than ever before and we need to ensure we are using our finances
wisely. Our people are our biggest asset and cost and we have to get it right.

The environment in which we operate is also changing. Following the impact of COVID19, a large proportion of our workforce was fast tracked into an Agile Working
environment and doing things differently, especially collaborating with others more
through virtual meeting attendance. We must make every effort to ensure staff continue
to be supported in this new environment which includes having the right skills,
opportunities and resources to carry out tasks in the most productive way, working
remotely where possible and ensure we provide excellent support to ensure the health
and happiness of our employees.

Our workforce need to ensure they are familiar with the political makeup of the Council
and the new remote ways of engaging with Members to ensure successful delivery of
Council services to the community.

As a district council we have statutory and regulatory services that we have to carry out,
these services require specialist skills and we need to ensure we have the right
workforce and skills to fulfil these obligations, as well as succession planning to develop
and retain these skills.

We need to be more commercial to generate income and this means we need a workforce
which are capable of doing that. This is a unique skill set that hasn’t needed to be as
prevalent in local government until recently.

We have had a transformation programme which is now complete and has delivered
savings and improvements but we need to be continually transforming; change is the
norm now and we need our people to be open to change and skilled in implementing
change effectively in all areas.

Page 35
·

05

The need to be commercially astute means we need an adaptable workforce. Gone
are the days when somebody had a specific discipline and they just carried out that
work. We need to utilise all the skills we have internally as well as attracting new
ones and that means our people being adaptable and flexible in the way they work
and the type of work they get involved in. Our people have a wealth of talents and
skills and we need to be using them.

We have a complex shared arrangement between our two councils and therefore our
workforce needs to support that shared arrangement, we have both place-based
roles and shared roles, and the balance between those needs and roles needs
consideration when recruiting and developing talent

Our established people plan which addresses the behaviours, values
and culture that we want to achieve as an organisation was written
during our transformation period, so it responds to our need to
change at that time. This workforce strategy takes into account the
aims of the people plan and interprets them in the strategy; it also
aligns to our new corporate plan which will run for the same period
as our workforce strategy.

Page 36

06

Our Current Workforce Profile

Which
channels
brought us
new users
and revenue?

Page 37

07

Managing a Diverse Workforce

Our workforce profile tells us that the majority of our workforce are “generation y” (1977 –
1997 so aged 23- 43) or “millennials” as they’re known commonly, although this is closely
followed by “Baby boomers” (1946-1964) and “Generation X”(1965 -1976). The demands and
expectations of “millennials” is that they have a different view of work and we need to create
a modern approach to work in order to attract and retain these skills.

At SHDC we also have a mixed workforce of ‘manual’ employees, such as Refuse Collectors,
Grounds maintenance staff, Plumbers etc, and ‘non manual’ employees. We need to
acknowledge that the wants, needs and skills of these different groups of the workforce
differ and our plans must reflect that.

South Holland is also a rural area with limited social mobility and lack of diversity, so we
need to ensure we offer flexibility and can accommodate a range of opportunities and
working arrangements to attract the best talent. Working in an agile manner opens up new

Page
38
opportunities for us to attract a more diverse
workforce.

08

In the CIPD’s 2018 UK working lives survey they cited 7 areas of job quality;
1.

Money

2.

Terms of employment

3.

Job design & nature of work

4.

Social support

5.

Health & well-being

6.

Work-life balance

7.

Voice & representation

What do the modern workforce want taking into account the impact of COVID-19 ?

A good work-life balance so they can also undertake activities important to them
A working environment that has appropriate technology, tools and facilities
A supportive Manager who listens to them
Flexible working so they can work where and when suits them
Support from their employer in terms of mental and physical well-being
A flexible reward package
A job where they can see the difference they are making
To feel connected and a sense of togetherness when working remotely
A working environment which is safe, comfortable and suits the needs of their role

We know that we need to adapt as an employer and implement positive changes to
respond to our changing workforce.

Page 39

09

Our Values and Behaviours
The Workforce Strategy plays a critical role in developing our culture and ensuring
progressive, sustainable and a healthy working environment for our staff. Our values
and behaviours are at the heart of this and how our staff do things is as important as
what we do.

Values we believe in:

What does our Workforce need to look
like in the future?
It is vital that, in roles where we can, we continue to develop our culture where staff
are trusted to manage their workload are empowered to contribute to the development
of the organisation and where we manage individuals based on outcomes rather than
time worked, irrespective of where their place of work may be. We must put our
community first and ensure our workforce feels connected to the organisation, even
more so in a remote working environment, ensuring we feel together, even when
working apart.
We need to be proactive in how we are utilising our current workforce and how we
attract skills into the organisation in response to the services we deliver and to achieve
our corporate aims. This means focusing on 6 key themes to achieve this:
1.

Recruitment and Retention

2

Developing our People

3

Have a happy, healthy workforce

4

Pay and Reward

5

Leadership

6

Organisational Change and Development

Page 40

10

Action Plan
Theme 1:

Recruitment and Retention

Review the Recruitment
Procedure and Policy

Modernise the
Application Process

To make sure the approach is up to date
and fits our culture and values
A robust and future proof approach to
recruitment and selection that enables
us to recruit diverse candidates to work
in our new agile environment.
Re-evaluate the strengths, behaviours
and skills which are now needed for the
roles we have, knowing when to operate
in an agile fashion working remotely
and when we must meet face to face
and collaborate with others.

• An improved, more userfriendly, streamlined system
• Ensure our process offers the best
candidate experience so they in turn choose
our organisation as a place they want to
work.
• Consider how we may be able to build on
and elevate our employer brand
• Enhance the way we interview including
how we do this remotely where
appropriate ensuring managers have the
tools to do this successfully
• Promote agile working and use innovative
recruitment sourcing to recruit to posts
that are traditionally difficult to fill.

G r o w i n g o u r O w n Ta l e n t
Succession planning for our
apprenticeships ranging from those
studying from Level 2 to Level 7 in both
'manual' and 'non manual' roles.

Develop a greater
awareness of what career
opportunities there are
in Local Government

Return on our investment in
apprenticeships and other training
schemes
Creation of development opportunities for
existing employees whether that is in
office based roles or 'manual' roles.
Ensure we have a succession plan in place.
Increase investment in the local economy
community by offering development roles
enabling them to stay in the District.
Develop strong partnership with education
and training providers.

Page

Promote employment, work experience,
graduate and apprenticeship opportunities
to the local community and students
Promote SHDC as a local employer of
choice.
Broaden our offer of work placements to
those with specific difficulties and explore
how this progresses into employment

Work to increase the
diversity of the workforce
Having an open and inclusive culture where
everyone is accepted.
Promote SHDC as an employer of choice in
respect of diversity and inclusion.
Develop and maintain our approach to
agile working.
Look to increase our Disability Confident
status
Ensure we draw staff from the whole
community so we do not miss out on
41valuable skills.
11

Theme 2:

Developing Our People

Develop and implement a
talent management
programme

Develop and implement a
mentoring scheme
To motivate and retain talented
employees.
To inspire experienced employees to
mentor

To motivate and retain talented
employees.
To maximise potential to mutually
benefit individuals

Invest in our employees
to allow them to develop
in current roles and for
promotion opportunities

Develop coaching
opportunities to support
managers and staff in
their development,
particularly in this ‘new
normal’

Make use of the Apprenticeship Levy
and Corporate Training Budget to fund
professional qualifications
Encourage learning and development in
all areas of SHDC for staff to develop
personally and professionally no matter
what their job role

A programme for
individuals on how to
work in an Agile
environment and in this
'new normal world'
To include how to stay connected
digitally, resilient, be able to separate
home from work, and learn to be
outcome focussed in their delivery.

Improvement in the development and
performance of staff through a culture
of coaching.
Provide mechanisms for managers to
enable them to support others,
building resilience through uncertain
times.

Review the current
Induction Process
how we induct staff effectively and
ensure our ways of working and
expectations are clear so new starter
feels motivated and supported.

I d e n t i f y o u r Ta l e n t
pipeline

Page 42

Ensure we are identifying our talent
pipeline and use Apprenticeships,
trainee roles and talent Apprenticeships.
As 'hybrid' ways of working are
progressed, have plans in place to
ensure development opportunities,
thoughts and ideas are not overlooked
when working in different locations.
12

Theme 3: Healthy, Happy Workforce
Well-being of our staff
should be entwined in our
culture, policies and
everything we do

To d e l i v e r a p r o g r a m m e
of themed events to
promote engagement
with the wellbeing
agenda

To make sure employees are aware of
how we can support their individual wellbeing, particularly bearing in mind the
impact COVID-19 has had on our lives
both in and outside of work.
Contribute towards our ambition to be a
great place to work.
Maintain sickness levels below the
sector average
To ensure all employees feel connected
when they may be working apart.
All staff to take personal responsibility
for their own health and well-being

Review existing employee
support arrangments and
consider an enhanced
offering

To promote a wellbeing culture
throughout the organisation, taking into
account those that work remotely
We need to be realistic about the
significant change and uncertainty
people now face, following the COVID-19
pandemic. There will be new
environmental influences that impact a
person’s wellbeing

Build resilience and
energy among our staff
and partners to enable
change and deliver our
priorities
By training, mentoring and coaching
our employees.
Providing shadowing opportunities so
they understand how to deal with
different scenarios.

To support employees who deal with
upsetting or traumatic cases and ensure
the welfare of our employees
is protected.

To p r o m o t e a H e a l t h y
Work Life Balance

Sign up to the
Mindful Employer
Charter

Develop and promote different ways of
working to ensure a healthy work life
balance.

To promote an organisation-wide
understanding of mental health issues
and enable managers to effectively
support their teams.
Maintain sickness levels below the
sector average.
Employee wellbeing supported at an
individual level

Develop a Mental
Health Strategy
The COVID-19 pandemic has increased
what we already recognised was a
growing issue impacting on people’s
lives. The strategy will have a detailed,
structured approach on what we will do
to support our employee’s mental wellbeing. We want to move away from
beliefs of this being a ‘tick-box’ exercise
to something which is part of the culturePage
of the organisation.

43
13

Theme 4: Pay and Reward
Consider our current
benefits and reward
package
To ensure we are innovative and current in
our approach, taking into account how
COVID-19 has changed individuals outlook
in how they work, to help us attract and
retain particularly in those areas where
there are skill shortages.
Review our Car Allowance package
considering if this is now still fit for purpose
given changes following COVID-19 and our
requirements to travel given our new Agile
approach.
Ensure that we are considering initiatives
that support agile and flexible ways of
working.

Meet with senior
managers to identify
how organisational
structures can support
career progression and
high quality services
To make sure that service leads are
supported and encouraged to consider
new ways of working.
To ensure organisation structures allow
career progression and succession
planning.

Make sure employees
understand the
totality of their
employment package

We will recognise great
work and ideas; whilst
dealing with poorly
performing employees
f aTo
i r l yp raonmd ortoebau sHt el ya l t h y
Work Life Balance

Development of Total Reward
Statements so employees can see their
total monetary package

To make sure PDR’s/One to One’s are
carried out effectively and to ensure
they suit our new Agile environment
with performance being measured on
output not on office attendance.

Ensure staff in 'manual' and 'non
manual' roles feel valued for their
contribution ensuring they feel part of
the team and organisation, even when
working apart.

Include career conversations in
PDR's/one to ones, considering
individuals experiences through-out
COVID-19 having learned new skills and
worked in different roles.
Continue to promote the Honorarium
Policy

Page 44

14

Theme 5: Leadership
Ensure our leaders are
equipped to lead teams
through challenges and
opportunities for 21st
century

Ensure our mentoring
scheme allows our
aspiring individuals to
develop

Use the apprenticeship standards in
leadership and management

To develop our workforce to be leaders
of the future

Maximise the return on investment of
the levy to make sure we use the levy
fund to support both new
apprenticeships and current employees
in both manual and non manual roles
and at different levels.

A programme on how
managers lead in an
Agile Environment and
in the 'new normal
world'

Upskill our staff to think
commercially and come
up with new ideas and
ways of working

To include workshops and toolkits
which help managers to:
- lead and be role models in our new
ways of working
- how to support their teams with
empathy and resilience.
- Ensure staff feel informed, trusted
and valued.how performance can be
measured on output will be key.

To ensure our staff have the skills to
adapt to the changing focus of local
government
That all, no matter what their role or
seniority, have the confidence to
contribute, feedback and come up with
new ideas.

To p r o m o t e a H e a l t h y
Work Life Balance
Develop an induction
programme for managers
To ensure new managers have all the
tools to enable them to lead their
teams effectively including when
working remotely and ensure they
develop individuals to be the best they
can be.

15

Page 45

Theme 6: Organisation Change and
Development
Continue new ways of
working that modernise
the working culture of
local government
Develop an Agile Working programme/policy,
building on our learnings from COVID-19 of what
worked well and what didn’t work so well.
To help us make best use of modern technology
giving people more control over how, when and
where they work; allowing us to use the free
space commercially, as well as creating a more
agile and adaptable workforce.
As long as the needs of the organisation are
being met, and tasks completed on time, we can
offer staff the flexibility to integrate their home
and work life in a way that allows them to
successfully meet the demands of both. By
offering staff flexibility to work in this way, their
wellbeing is improved and subsequently,
performance is enhanced.

Services complete a
' C OVI D - 1 9 L e s s o n s
Learned' exercise
Services to review the new ways of working,
what processes need to be kept or changed
and how this can enhance the customer
experience.
To also include:
- building on cross service
working/collaborations
- new skills of team members obtained
through- out the emergency and how we use
and develop further as part of succession
planning and resilience
- To
where
ouroskills
p are
rom
t e agaps/pinch
H e a l t points
h y for
our
new
ways
of
working
and
how
W o r k L i f e B a l a n c e has
COVID-19 affected our future skill
requirements.
- what great practices can we replicate?
- be ‘digital by design’ to avoid any duplication
of work or unnecessary manual tasks so staff
are focusing on value added work.

Actively Commit to
diversity and inclusion
and create a programme
to support this. (BAME,
PRIDE etc
To create a programme to commit to
these initiatives so diversity is
celebrated in our organisation.

Page 46

Promote the culture
whereby work is
something you do rather
than a place you go and
this is considered for
each role and individual.
Yo u g o p l a c e s t o N e t w o r k
and Collaborate.
The place of work becomes the place
which is most appropriate to the task in
hand, balancing with individual needs.
There is no ‘one size fits all’.

Review how we best
engage with all staff
and bring them along
in our journey
For both ‘Manual’ and ‘Non-manual’
workers to feel well informed on our
strategic aims and they understand
what it means for them, their role and
their objectives.
We will communicate with staff in a way
that both informs and encourages open
discussion. We want staff to be brave in
coming forward with ideas and to
challenge the status quo. We want to
create a forum that embraces
creativity, welcomes feedback and
respects honesty.

Member Engagement
Our Members have an important role in
helping us shape the delivery of our
services and as such, we must ensure
we engage them in key strategic
decisions. The shift to remote working
includes our Members and so it is
important to engage with Members
through virtual meetings, as we would
our colleagues. This will also include
creating a new package for Member
Development and a ‘promise’ or
‘Charter’ to set out how officers will
work with Members while agile
working.

16

Theme 6: Organisation Change and
Development
Review how we work
most effectively

Enhance the Customer
Experience
Make sure we respond to customer's
changing needs and enhance the
customer experience by ensuring our
staff continue to be more digital to
deliver services whilst also maintaining
face to face support where that is most
appropriate.
Continue to ensure that the customer
and are communities are at the heart of
everything we do
Our customer interactions to be
flexible and appropriate
When in a virtual space make sure that
our professional mindsets are
maintained and reflected in our
appearance and behaviour.

Page 47

Programmes to support managers and
individuals in agile working, resilience,
staying digitally connected, being
outcome focussed in their delivery and
to correctly balance the need for face
to face collaboration and agile working.
The pattern of working in an agile
manner and face to face will very much
depend on the job role, for example,
currently those carrying out food
inspections carry out their first
inspection directly from home once a
business has opened meaning a slightly
later start time but allowing them to fit
further inspections in later into the
evening after core hours providing an
enhanced service to the business.

17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To:
(Author:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 29 July 2020
Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject

Special Urgency - Non-Key Decisions - Application of Call-In

Purpose:

To report to Council reasons for urgency relating to a number of Non-Key
Decisions, as required by the Council’s Constitution

Recommendation:
That the information contained within the report be noted.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Part 4D of the Constitution (Access to Information Procedure Rules) details a number of
situations where call-in of a decision may be waived, subject to certain criteria being met
and the relevant Urgency Notice being published.

1.2

Paragraph 14 lays out how this applies to Non-Key Decisions.

1.3

Where, for any Non-Key Decision, any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest, the Executive Decision shall
not be subject to call-in subject to:






The Chairman of the Performance Monitoring Panel agreeing both that the decision
proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of
urgency (in the absence of the Chairman, the Chairman of the Council or in his/her
absence the Vice-Chairman of the Council’s consent shall be required. In the absence
of all three, the Head of the Paid Service or his/her nominee’s consent shall be
required); and
The decision notice stating that the decision is not subject to call-in and the reasons
why the delay caused by the call-in procedure is considered to be seriously detrimental
to the Council’s or the public’s interest; and
A report being submitted to the next available meeting of full Council indicating the
reasons for the urgency.

2.0

DECISIONS MADE

2.1

A number of decisions have been made over the last few months, as a direct result of the
Council’s Covid emergency response, that have fallen under the Special Urgency rules for
Non-Key decisions detailed above. These are detailed within Appendix A, attached to this
report. All decisions met the criteria detailed within the Constitution, and agreement was
obtained from the Chairman of the Performance Monitoring Panel. All decisions were

Page 49

published on the Council’s website and Councillors advised of the decisions upon
publication. The decisions can be viewed in full on the website via the following link:
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/DelegatedDecisions
3.0

OPTIONS

3.1

To note the information detailed within this report.

4.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

To comply with the Council’s Constitution.

5.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

Reporting reasons for urgency will ensure that the requirements of the Constitution are
complied with, and demonstrates transparent decision making.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

6.1

Constitution and Legal

6.1.1

Paragraph 14 of Part 4D (Access to Information Procedure Rules) of the Constitution
requires that a report be submitted to the Council, indicating the reasons for urgency of
decisions made under the Special Urgency rules for Non-Key Decisions.

7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

The decisions that have been made, and are detailed within this report, affect all wards and
communities.

8.0

ACRONYMS

8.1

None.

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:
Key Decision:

None

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk
N

Page 50

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Table explaining reasons for urgency of urgent non-key decisions
made

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

Page 53

Decision
Support for businesses in response to COVID-19
for 2020/21 – To seek approval for
administration of the changes to Business Rates
relief and grants for 2020/21 in response to
COVID-19

Decision maker
Portfolio Holder for
Finance

Date of decision
24 March 2020

Council Tax – COVID-19 hardship fund 2020/21
– To seek approval for administration of the
Council Tax COVID-19 hardship fund, in line
with government guidance

Portfolio Holder for
Finance

26 March 2020

South Holland Discretionary Business Grants
Scheme – To approve the Council’s approach to
the delivery of the discretionary business rates
scheme, to support businesses affected by
Covid 19

The Deputy Leader
(Portfolio Holder –
Growth and
Commercialisation)

3 June 2020

Discretionary Rate Relief – To review and
decide expanded retail discount scheme
decisions, in line with review provisions
contained in the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
(Live Promotions Ltd, Office and Premises: 44
Double Street, Spalding & Warehouse and
Premises; Enterprise Way, Pinchbeck)

Portfolio Holder for
Finance

9 June 2020

Reason for urgency
There is a need to enable the prompt
implementation and administration of the rate reliefs
and grants which the government has announced in
response to COVID-19 to support businesses in
2020/21. By waiving call-in, the Council can begin to
apply the various reliefs to ratepayer accounts, and
rebill at the earliest opportunity. All of the reliefs
and grants will be fully funded by central
government. Administration will be in line with
government guidance.
To enable prompt implementation of the Council Tax
COVID-19 hardship fund, and the re-billing of
customers at the earliest opportunity.
Administration will be in line with government
guidance, and the support will be fully funded.
The economic need to mobilise the programme as
soon as practicably possible, and a government
expectation that local authorities will start making
payments to businesses under their schemes in early
June. It is therefore necessary that the authority
agrees the principals under which its own scheme
will operate, so as to enable mobilisation of the
scheme in a timely fashion.
A new discretionary grant scheme became available
on Monday 8 June 2020, and the Authority did not
wish to limit the opportunity for the business, the
subject of the report, to make an application.

Page 54

Decision
Business Rates – Discretionary Rate Relief – To
review and decide expanded retail discount
scheme decisions, in line with review provisions
contained in the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
(Hills Retail Stores Ltd – Warehouse and
Premises on Tate Business Park, West
Pinchbeck, Spalding)
Business Rates – Discretionary Rate Relief – To
review and decide expanded retail discount
scheme decisions, in line with review provisions
contained in the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
(W H Fowler and Sons (Coaches) Ltd – Garage &
Premises, Dog Drove, Holbeach Drove, Spalding,
PE12 0SD)

Decision maker
Portfolio Holder for
Finance

Date of decision
9 June 2020

Reason for urgency
A new discretionary grant scheme became available
on Monday 8 June 2020 and the Authority did not
wish to limit the opportunity for the business, the
subject of the report, to make an application.

Portfolio Holder for
Finance

9 June 2020

A new discretionary grant scheme became available
on Monday 8 June 2020 and the Authority did not
wish to limit the opportunity for the business, the
subject of the report, to make an application.

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Cabinet

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 29 July 2020

(Author:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject

Report from Cabinet meetings held on 16 June 2020 and 21 July 2020

Purpose:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
a) Re-opening of South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall
provision – To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South
Holland and market stall provision at Spalding market (considered first at
Cabinet on 16 June 2020 (Cabinet minute 9) (Cabinet agenda items 9 and
exempt agenda item 12) and reconsideration of this item at Cabinet on 21
July 2020 (Cabinet minute 15)(Cabinet agenda items 5a and exempt
agenda item 11)
[Note – the only element of (a) above that requires decision by Council is
the recommendation at 1) below the background to which is set out in the
confidential report at Appendix C. If members wish to discuss the content
of Appendix C it will be necessary to consider this item later in the
meeting following exclusion of the press and public]
b) Resourcing of the Council’s Housing Development Team – To set out a
proposal concerning the resourcing of the Council’s Housing
Development service which will bring two additional Housing
Development Project Manager posts into the establishment to align with
the authority’s ambition to build new council houses and deliver new
homes through its housing companies (considered at Cabinet on 21 July
2020 (Cabinet minute 17)(Cabinet agenda item 7)

Recommendations to Council:
a) Re-opening of South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall provision

1) That, in light of the outcome of the consultation with staff and in light of the content of the
report at Appendix C generally, the council ceases market stall provision in Spalding and
follows its usual process arising as a result and as referenced in paragraph 5.1 of the
report at Appendix C.
b) Resourcing of the Council’s Housing Development Team
2) That two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts (2 FTE) be created
within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment.

Page 55

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and
adopting or changing the Constitution. Staffing establishment matters are also a Council
function. The Cabinet however has a responsibility for advising the Council on such
matters. At its meetings on 16 June 2020 and 21 July 2020, the Cabinet made
recommendations to Council in respect of the above items, as they relate to staffing
establishment issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as
appendices.

1.3

Decisions relating to the Re-opening of South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall
Provision are detailed below – at the meeting on 16 June 2020, the Cabinet made its
original decision and the item was considered again on 21 July 2020, following call-in of the
original decision.

1.4

Please note that with regard to the attached appendices relating to the Re-opening of
South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall Provision, the exempt Appendix B from
the original report to Cabinet on 16 June 20 has been replaced with an updated version to
reflect the results of the consultation (this is attached at Appendix C which is exempt).

2.0

RE-OPENING OF SOUTH HOLLAND’S MARKETS, AND SPALDING MARKET STALL
PROVISION
(Minute of Cabinet – 16 June 2020 – Item 9 and exempt agenda item 12)
Consideration was given to the options for re-opening of the markets in South Holland and
the market stalls provision at Spalding market.
The Cabinet voted to exclude the press and public under Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 to consider the content of Appendix B. The press
and public were re-admitted to the meeting for the remainder of the debate and the vote on
the recommendations.
The impact of Covid-19 on the UK had meant that the government had to make the
decision to introduce lock-down and shut certain outlets, including markets. On 24th March
the decision was made to close markets in South Holland following government guidance
and for the safety of traders, staff and visitors.
As the lock-down on England eased, the government announced on 24 May that outdoor
markets could reopen from 1 June, so long as they were Covid-safe. Markets are an
important part of the towns and should be opened as soon as they were safe to do so.
However, changes to the way markets operate needed to be made in accordance with
government guidance, dealing in particular with the requirement for social distancing.
Changes needed to be made to the markets including location, pitch booking and stall
provision to make them safe and to provide confidence to those returning to the towns.
The Environmental Services Manager confirmed that there had been engagement with all
traders, both regular and casual. The majority had continued to trade, stood on multiple
markets and were comfortable with the level of support and engagement from the Council.

Page 56

An additional recommendation was proposed by the Portfolio Holder and agreed as follows:
‘That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Place, to establish a Covid compliant market in the Market Place, Long Sutton if
a road closure order can be obtained via the local Highway Authority and arrangements
prove viable and achievable. If no such closure can be obtained the market to be
established in the nearby council owned car park.’
The Portfolio Holder thanked the staff and ward members involved in the work detailed
within the report.
DECISION:
1. That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, in
line with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19,
a) The current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday and
Saturday markets be suspended;
b) The removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long Sutton
and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service equitable across all
markets;
c) A book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be introduced
to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and remove the need for cash
handling, both of which assist with the opening of Covid-safe markets;
d) In the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B of the report, the
current practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is ended, the fees
for Spalding traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20 of the report;
e) A rent free period be introduced for traders until 31 July 2020 to support the recovery of
markets;
f) Social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the layouts
to accommodate the new government guidance;
g) The market trader handbook be amended in line with the above recommendations;
h) The following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime:
a) Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue, Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm;
b) Long Sutton and Holbeach, Monday to Friday 8am – 2pm.
2. That the Portfolio Holder for Place be authorised to:
a) designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park should the volume of traders
increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the Spalding markets to
operate safely in accordance with Governance guidance; and
3 That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Place, to

Page 57

a) Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on employment
referred to in Appendix B of the report;
b) Change fees as set out;
c) Procure and implement a book and pay system
d) To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19 response and
make amendments alongside guidance changes, as requested.
e) Establish a Covid compliant market in the Market Place, Long Sutton if a road closure
order can be obtained via the local Highway Authority and arrangements prove viable and
achievable. If no such closure can be obtained the market to be established in the nearby
council owned car park.

3.0

Reconsideration following call-in

The decision relating to the erection and dismantling of stalls was called in and
considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel at its meeting on 13 July 2020.
The Panel resolved to ask the Cabinet to reconsider its decision and the following
alternative proposal was submitted to the Cabinet for consideration:
Stalls should continue to be provided at Spalding market until the end of this
financial year, or until proper and meaningful discussion is held with market
traders, or their representatives, and that the whole issue be subject to a more
thorough examination to enable the council to find a way to rebuild the Spalding
market into an attractive, viable market, supporting the economic viability of the
district and the town which would help support aims in our corporate plan.
Cabinet reconsidered this matter at its meeting on 21 July, where it affirmed its
earlier decision of 16 June but also determined that “regeneration of Spalding
market be addressed, in order to secure its continued success in the future”.
Cabinet indicated their intention to extend the rent free period until the end of
August 2020.
4.0

RESOURCING OF THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING DEVELOPMENT TEAM
(Report submitted to Cabinet – 21 July 2020 – Item 7)

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health
and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which set out a proposal
concerning the resourcing of the Council's Housing Development service, which
would bring two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts into the
establishment to align with the authority’s ambition to build new council houses and
deliver new homes through its housing companies.
DECISION:

Page 58

1) That the proposal to create two additional Housing Development Project
Manager posts (2 FTE) within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment be
supported and recommended to Council for approval.
(Other options considered:
 To do nothing - new posts would not be brought into the establishment. Vacant
posts could be filled (subject to successful recruitment) but additional resources
beyond the 3 FTE would not be available. If the ‘do nothing’ option was pursued,
the authority could continue to have a moderate housing development
programme likely to focus on one design and build project at any time alongside
a small programme of acquisitions.
Reasons for decision:
 To enable the housing development team to deliver a greater number of housing
projects for Welland Homes and the HRA.)

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

None

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Re-opening of South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall Provision
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C

Cabinet Agenda Item 9 (Cabinet meeting 16 June 2020)
Cabinet Agenda Item 9 – Appendix A (Cabinet meeting 16 June
2020)
Revised Exempt Cabinet Agenda Item 12 - Appendix B to Cabinet
Agenda Item 9 (Cabinet meeting 16 June 2020). (Note that this
Appendix is not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1
(Information relating to any individual)) and 3 (Information
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the Authority holding that information) in Part
1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and is
therefore attached to this agenda at item 12.

Resourcing of the Council’s Housing Development Team
Appendix D
Cabinet Agenda Item 7 (Cabinet meeting 21 July 2020)

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Director - Commercialisation

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 16 June 2020

(Author:

Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager)

Subject

Re-Opening of South Holland Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision

Purpose:

To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South Holland and the
market stalls provision at Spalding market

Recommendations:
1) That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, in
line with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19,
a. the current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday
and Saturday markets be suspended;
b. the removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long
Sutton and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service
equitable across all markets;
c. a book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be
introduced to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and
remove the need for cash handling, both of which assist with the opening of
Covid-safe markets;
d. in the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B, the current
practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is ended, the
fees for Spalding market traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20;
e. a rent free period be introduced for traders until 31st July 2020 to support the
recovery of markets;
f. social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the
layouts to accommodate the new government guidance;
g. the market trader handbook be amended in line with the above
recommendations:
h. the following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime:
a. Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue Tuesday to Saturday 8am to
4pm;
b. Long Sutton and Holbeach Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm.
2) That the portfolio holder for Place be authorised to:
a. designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park, Spalding should the volume
of traders increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the
Spalding markets to operate safely in accordance with Government guidance; and
b. make a recommendation to Full Council or the appropriate Chief Officer (in
consultation with the Chief Executive) in relation to any proposed impact on
employment arising from the consultation process referred to at Appendix B; and

Page 61

3) That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Place, to:
a. Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on
employment referred to in Appendix B;
b. Change fees as set out;
c. Procure and implement a book and pay system;
d. To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19
response and make amendments alongside guidance changes, as required.
An officer decision was published on 9th June which put in place a number of temporary decisions
until such time as this cabinet report was implementable. These are now included within this
report.
1)

BACKGROUND
1.1

The impact of Covid-19 on the UK has meant that the government had to make the
decision to introduce lock-down and shut certain retail outlets, including markets. On
24th March the decision was made to close markets in South Holland following
government guidance and for the safety of our traders, staff and visitors.

1.2

As the lock-down on England eased, the government announced on 24th May that
outdoor markets could reopen from 1st June, so long as they were ‘Covid safe’. This
term refers to measures such as social distancing, safe site layouts and clear signage
being in place at all markets in order for them to open.

1.3

Markets are an important part of our towns and should be opened as soon as they are
safe to do so. Markets cannot re-open as they were previously as government guidance
states that measures such as social distancing must be implemented to make them
safe to re-open. Therefore changes have needed to be made to the markets including
location, layout, pitch booking and stall provision, to make them safe and provide
confidence to those returning to our towns.

1.4

As part of the budget for 2020/21 the Council has a significant savings target and this
service was identified as an area with the potential for generating service efficiencies inyear.

1.5

Having considered the government and national market body NABMA, guidance we
have assessed each market to understand the changes required to ensure our markets
are ‘Covid safe’ and can therefore re-open. There are a number of key changes that will
be made across the South Holland markets of Spalding, Crowland, Holbeach and Long
Sutton. Some changes are relevant to all markets whereas some are site specific. The
report makes clear which markets will be impacted by the changes proposed.

1.6

Alongside the work that the council has done to review the government guidance, we
have also been in contact with traders. Calls were made with traders in May and June
to discuss implications of the Covid outbreak and potential changes that may need to
be considered to allow for the safe and efficient re-opening of markets.

1.7

The market specific guidance released by NABMA states ‘Social distancing will be
needed until at least the end of the year to prevent fresh outbreaks of coronavirus even
though the UK has reached the peak of the current epidemic’, therefore we must ensure
we make the markets safe now and into the coming months. One of the key ways to do

Page 62

this will be ensuring the layouts of our markets can support social distancing guidelines,
which are that we remain 2m apart.
1.8

We reviewed each market to ensure that we can introduce these changes and have
considered a number of approaches for this, including new locations for markets and
altering where pitches are in each market. This report includes, in Appendix A, a
proposed layout for the Spalding Market that has been drawn up taking social
distancing guidelines into account for traders, businesses, customers and the public.
The proposals have considered where businesses may require space to introduce their
own queuing systems outside their shops and how we can ensure the markets do not
impact on the safety of these.

1.9

In order to ensure that we can maintain safe layouts for our markets, it is vital that we
know which traders are looking to attend each market. It is also important that we, like
others such as supermarkets, introduce safe methods of payment. Therefore we are
recommending to introduce an online book and pay system for traders at all markets.
This will enable traders to book on to the market they would like to stand and make
payment. It removes the risk of cash handling between traders to staff and gives South
Holland advance notice of trader numbers to monitor safe layouts.

1.10

Whilst reviewing the market layouts, it was considered that minimal changes were
required to Crowland and Holbeach markets given their size and location. Therefore
there are no layout changes proposed. However, Spalding and Long Sutton both
require changes to what was considered the normal layout prior to the outbreak.

1.11

Long Sutton has been reviewed to consider its proximity to the businesses and the
road. Safety is the primary concern for SHDC when re-opening the markets. Not only
for our traders but the businesses, customers and visitors to the towns and markets.

1.12

After seeking initial advice from Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) highways, we were
aware that the potential for closing the road was very limited and in order to enable the
efficient re-opening of the market, a proposal to re-locate the market in the SHDC
owned car park in West Street was provided to the Parish and Ward members. At this
time there is no agreed consensus for the safe location of the market and whilst we are
unable to provide a timescale for re-opening, we continue to work through feedback
received from ward members to establish a safe and legal option for the opening of this
market.

1.13

During the outbreak some traders contacted the council to request permission to trade.
They were within the government guidelines for food retail that could remain open,
therefore these traders have been trading using a street trading licence. They will likely
remain trading under such licence until the market location and safety is agreed.

1.14

In Spalding there were similar issues regarding the layout of the market and how we
could safely re-instate the market without much disruption. Consideration was given to
moving the market to Victoria Street car park due to the early representations from
traders about the numbers wanting to return to the market immediately. During the
second consultation with traders, numbers reduced with some looking to return in future
weeks and consideration was given to the original locations of Market Place and Hall
Place, being retained with some traders needing to relocate to Sheep Market.

1.15

The proposed layout in Appendix A shows the markets new positioning in the town and
flows along with the one way system that has been introduced for pedestrian traffic.

Page 63

1.16

Whilst we may be able to maintain the market close to its original position in Market
Place currently, it will be necessary to move traders from their usual pitch site in order
to adhere to guidance and facilitate use of Sheep Market to avoid a more disruptive
move. Should the market traders increase to such a point that we are unable to
maintain safe distances, we may need to consider moving the market to Victoria Street
or reducing the number of traders or size of stalls, in consultation with the traders.

1.17

Should we require a move of the market to Victoria Street, this will be done in
accordance with section 50 of the Food Act 1984. The Council's market rights are
contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town Commissioners dated 19
January 1876. The wording of the conveyance is unclear, but it is considered that the
Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the Council's existing market
rights. Therefore, in order to hold markets on the Victoria Street car park, it is
necessary to establish new markets under the provisions of the Food Act 1984.

1.18

If it becomes necessary, due to the number of traders wishing to stand at the Spalding
markets, to give further consideration to a relocation of the market to Victoria Street to
ensure a safe market in Spalding, this would be undertaken in consultation with the
leader and portfolio holder. Discussions will also be taken with representatives of the
market traders.

1.19

As part of the assessment for safe market re-opening consideration was also given to
the provision of stalls. Spalding Market is the only market that we provide for which we
erect and dismantle the market stalls. The market here is held weekly every Tuesday
and Saturday and staff of environmental services are responsible for storing, delivering
and pre-erecting the market stalls. 5 members of staff are required to do this, including
a tractor driver for approximately 4 hours per market day.

1.20

The potential for close proximity working for staff who erect and dismantle the market
stalls, were considered when proposing the suspension of this service, as well as
ensuring fairness across the markets as we do not provide them at other locations. It is
acknowledged that alongside the recommendation for the removal of this service, there
should be a resulting change to the charges for those standing at Spalding market.

1.21

A benchmarking exercise was undertaken to establish a suitable charge for Spalding
market if stalls were no longer provided. Based on this, it is recommended that the fees
for long term pitch traders be reduced, following the outcome of the proposals in
Appendix B.

1.22

The changes proposed would be to move from £17.40 currently charged for a 2.4m stall
provided by SHDC to £11.20 for an equivalent size 2.4m stall that traders would supply
themselves (£14.00 for a 3m pitch). This is a competitive price when compared to local
charges identified in the benchmarking exercise as set out in the table below.

Page 64

Costs

Council
South Holland
Current Prices

Stall Provided

Long Term
traders
Stall

Casual Pitch

Long Term Pitch

£20.40

£17.40

£1.90 per 300mm
(£19 for 3m)

£1.90 per 300mm
(£19 for 3m)

-

-

£1.90 per 300mm
(£19 for 3m)

£1.40 per 300m
(£14.00 for 3m)

£21.00

£19.30

£26.00

£23.00

£16.75
(3.05m x 3.05m )
-

£16.25
(3.05m x 3.05m)
-

£17.50

£16.00

-

-

South Holland
New Prices based on
Bring Your Own Stall
South Kesteven Bourne
Boston Borough
West Lindsey Tuesday

Bring Your Own Stall

Casual
Traders
Stall

1.23

The detail regarding the impact of the changes to potentially removing stall provision is
available in Appendix B which is an exempt item under paragraphs 1 and 3.

1.24

Further to this, we have identified another area in which we have a policy which differs
across markets. Currently for all markets other than Spalding, traders do not always
take their waste with them. This has required SHDC to remove this waste through a
trade waste arrangement with LCC. This practice comes at a cost to SHDC with
expenses incurred for staff, vehicles and trade waste disposal. It is recommended that
this practice is changed so that traders at all markets remove their own waste. This will
ensure equity across all our markets.

1.25

To further support our traders to return to the markets post the government lockdown,
we recommend that the fee to stand should be waived between the re-opening and the
31st July. This will enable our traders to return as the confidence increases within the
public to return to our town which should in turn mean a footfall increase across the
district. Traders will still be required to book online to acknowledge their desire to stand
on each market and support safe layouts.

1.26

In order to support traders, a review of the market trader handbook will be undertaken
to align it with the changes that are detailed in this report and ensure that they are
relevant to current and upcoming government guidance. It will likely be necessary for
further changes to be made to the markets in consultation with the leader and portfolio
holder as government guidance changes in the coming months.

2)

OPTIONS

2.1

Option One – Make changes as outlined to enable the opening of the markets in line
with government guidance. This will ensure that traders and customers can feel safe to
return to our towns and shop locally, thereby supporting the local economy. Those changes
include;





Introducing an online book and pay system
Changing layouts at Spalding and Long Sutton markets
Suspending the provision of stalls in Spalding market
Amending the fees for traders in Spalding should stall provision cease

Page 65





Ceasing the removal of trade waste at markets by SHDC
Introducing a rent free period for market traders until 31st July 2020
Re-opening of toilets in Spalding, Long Sutton and Holbeach with an hourly cleaning
regime.

2.2

Option Two – Do nothing and therefore markets cannot re-open safely in the current
Covid environment. This option does not support our market towns, local economy,
traders or residents to buy locally and is not the preferred option of this report.

3)

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

The re-opening of markets is key to the vitality of our towns and local economy. The
markets must open swiftly but safely and in line with government guidance. Ensuring the
safety of our traders, businesses, town and market visitors and residents is of utmost
importance to SHDC. Therefore we must make changes to allow the markets to open in
line with guidance and provide confidence to those returning to our towns.

3.2

Each of the recommendations feeds into the wider picture of a safe and secure market offer
whilst ensuring that alternative approaches, which can create savings for the council, are
implemented where appropriate.

3.3

The introduction of an online book and pay system for traders is the first step in ensuring
our markets are laid out safely and appropriate for each market’s needs. The best way for
us to be able to monitor these layouts and flex and grow in the coming months is to have
an accurate picture of the traders that wish to stand, their required pitch size and also
reduce the need for face to face interaction for money collection.

3.4

Once we understand the numbers of traders wishing to stand, we must ensure that layouts
are Covid safe. This means that we are complying with government and NABMA guidance.
NABMA has a checklist of guidelines/considerations that can assist with making sure
markets are safely re-opened and adhering to the 2m requirements. These include;







Limiting customer numbers
Managing aisle width
Considering stall layout and numbers
Creating one way systems
Using barriers
Installing signage

3.5

We have considered all of the above and have implemented the guidance to ensure our
proposed layouts address each of these areas for safe distances between stalls,
businesses and pedestrian traffic.

3.6

The suspension of the current provision of stalls in Spalding is recommended whilst we
review the impact of Covid and close proximity working and consider the financial
implications for SHDC for maintaining the service. More detail regarding this is available in
Appendix B.

3.7

It is recommended that in light of the proposed stall provision suspension that the rent
charges for Spalding be reviewed in line with the benchmarking exercise undertaken. This

Page 66

will support the traders and recognises that the removal of this service should result in a
reduction in costs for traders where the costs have been reduced for SHDC.
3.8

The removal of trade waste that is only currently available at some, not all, markets
provides an inequity which should be addressed. The practice comes at a cost to SHDC
which is set to increase following changes to the charges for disposal levied by LCC.

3.9

It is important that we re-open the markets safely and that we support traders to return and
therefore, the proposal to support traders with a rent free period until 31st July enables
traders to return in the coming weeks whilst confidence is returned to the public to visit our
towns. The re-opening of the toilets in these towns is important to support the public back
to them. However, as with everything in a Covid climate, changes are required.

3.10

It is therefore recommended that the Spalding toilets in Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue to
re-open Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm with an hourly cleaning regime. These hours are
recommended as they fall across the towns’ previously busy times and enable the
restructuring of staff hours and duties to provide enhanced cleaning. For Long Sutton and
Holbeach, the recommendation is to re-open Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. Again these
are considered the busy times in the towns and will enable the improved cleaning regime
within current staffing levels. In Crowland, the toilets are maintained by the parish with
support from SHDC and we have been in touch regarding our plans and suggested working
practices.

4)

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The overall aim of this report is to support our local economy, our traders, businesses and
the visitors to our towns and markets to return safely following the Covid restrictions.
Without these changes, our markets could not re-open.

4.2

Each of the recommendations assists with the safe re-opening of the markets in the
quickest and safest way possible. These benefits include;











Providing confidence to visitors and customers that the layouts of markets have been
reviewed to ensure safe distancing;
Reducing potential for cash handling between SHDC staff and traders;
Providing real-time information regarding the number of traders due at each market and
therefore supporting safe layouts;
Enabling layouts to flex and grow with the number of traders due and thereby reduce
the need to move markets where not required if numbers are steady;
Enabling one way systems for safe pedestrian traffic around the markets with clear
signage to support customers and visitors;
Reducing the risk of close proximity working when erecting and dismantling stalls;
Potentially providing savings to SHDC;
Enabling savings to be passed to traders by reducing pitch fees to those in Spalding no
longer using the SHDC stalls;
Creating an equal service for all markets where no market receives trade waste
collections;
Supporting traders to return with a period of rent free pitch hire to the end of July whilst
consumer confidence grows;

Page 67



Providing an improved cleaning regime for the toilets in a Covid environment without
the need for additional staffing costs.

4.3

All of these changes will be reflected in the policy handbook which will be updated to further
support current and new traders.

5)

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

Apart from amending the Council's establishment, the issues detailed in this report are
executive functions.

5.1.2

In normal circumstances, any proposal to amend the establishment would be submitted to
full Council for consideration, but a further full Council meeting will not be held until
September 2020 and it is not yet known when any later meeting will be held. In the
circumstances, the recommendations acknowledge that any decision to amend the
Council's establishment arising from the consultation detailed in Appendix B may be taken
by the Chief Executive under her emergency delegated powers at paragraph 6 of Part 3
Section F2 of the Constitution.

5.1.3

The Council's market rights are contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town
Commissioners dated 19 January 1876. They allow for the market to stand as it does
currently in Market Place and Hall Place and gives provision for Sheep Market to be used.

5.1.4

It is considered that the Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the
Council's existing market rights, and another vehicle must be used in order to establish
markets on the car park, should that be necessary. Therefore, it is proposed that a statutory
market may be that vehicle. An additional statutory markets will not affect the Council's
existing market rights, should it be required.

5.1.5

The Council's off-street car parking places order makes provision for the Council to close all
or parts of its car parks as appropriate which will enable the markets to be held on the car
park.

5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

By making these changes, we are looking to support our local economy, traders and
businesses and therefore achieve our corporate aim to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to
be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns
and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’

5.3

Financial

Page 68

5.3.1

The impact of Covid nationally has been unprecedented both socially and economically.
The same is true for the impact to SHDC, but the need to re-open our markets ‘Covid safe’
is clear and vital to the recovery of our economy. Therefore the proposals in this report are
looking at both how we can safely re-open and also the cost impacts of doing so.

5.3.2

Many of the proposals do not come with additional cost implications, an example of this is
the proposed toilet re-openings which come with enhanced cleaning but due to the
proposed changes to opening hours, can be sustained in current staffing levels.

5.3.3

The introduction of a book and pay system will have a financial impact. In the interim a free
online web form is being created to support the requirement for SHDC to understand trader
numbers, but whilst pitch rents are free until the end of July, a payment system is not
required. We continue to appraise options for a more permanent book and pay solution that
will support markets but also other areas of the council that have the requirements of such
a system to enable digital working. Further to this, the procurement of such a system will
likely lead to efficiencies in current practices, such as the time taken handling money and
also audit recommendations regarding the safety of this practice.

5.3.4

There are financial implications to the proposal to suspend the provision of the market stalls
in Spalding. Further detail regarding this is provided in Appendix B. Should the resulting
decision be to cease this provision, it is a recommendation that the fees for traders be
reviewed in line with the removal of a service and benchmarking that has been undertaken.
The financial implications of this are considered in line with any savings that may be
available following the change in service provision.

5.3.5

There is a recommendation to support traders with free pitch rent until the end of July 2020.
This is considered appropriate to support the return of traders following many weeks being
unable to trade, and in some cases being unable to acquire normal levels of stock.
Alongside this, footfall may be lower than previously and SHDC would like to support
traders as we work to build confidence in our towns and markets post lock-down.

5.3.6

The recommendation to cease collection of trade waste at all markets will see a saving for
SHDC. Last year the costs for disposal alone was in excess of £3,000 and the coming year
we were due to see an increase in that cost of 10% due to increases to LCC charges. In
addition to this, we see staffing and vehicle costs for the collection of this waste which
means that the cessation of this trade waste collection will save SHDC around £11,000 for
2020/21 and ensure all markets receive the same level of service regarding trade waste
removal.

5.4

Reputation

5.4.1

The proposals take into consideration the needs of the local economy and our traders and
the safety of our residents, traders and visitors to the towns, whilst weighing up the financial
burdens to the council and its tax payers. Without these changes, the markets would not be
in a position to re-open in the current climate. This would have a negative impact on the
reputation of the council.

5.4.2

During this process we have worked to engage with traders as much as possible, with calls
directly to them about the potential need for change to make the markets safe to re-open.
We have made amendments to original proposals based on feedback and will continue to

Page 69

alter alongside changes to government guidance and increases to traders and footfall traffic
that may impede the social distancing requirements.
5.4.3

This willingness to listen, observe and alter plans for the benefit of all should further support
the reputation of the council and our desire to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to be
attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns
and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’

5.5

Risk Management

5.5.1

Consideration has been given to the risk surrounding the re-opening versus the remained
closure of the markets. There are risks attached to both but the risk of re-opening is
considered mitigated through the changes that are proposed in this report.

5.5.2

By ensuring that government guidance is adhered to, social distancing is established
throughout all markets and supported with signage to assist all those in the markets vicinity,
it is considered that the risks are mitigated to allow re-opening. Risk assessments have
been reviewed as part of this.

5.6

Staffing

5.6.1

The recommendations will have an impact on staffing. Mainly the recommendation
regarding the suspension of the market stall provision. Further detail regarding this is
available in Appendix B.

5.6.2

The re-opening of the toilets has impacted staffing tasks with a focus being placed on
regular cleaning. This will mean that tasks will be re-focussed to enable staff the time to
undertake this enhanced cleaning regime and some staff have agreed to alter working
hours to assist with cleaning during busy periods.

5.6.3

The proposals will also change the work undertaken by the staff supporting traders, namely
the markets officer. Currently with Covid implications there has been an ongoing impact to
this role. Therefore to implement this report, we will need to sufficiently staff this role in the
current climate.

5.6.4

The recommendation to terminate the collection of trade waste will also impact those staff
that undertake this task. Currently this work is completed in an overtime capacity and is
paid as such. The termination of this service will therefore cease payment of overtime to
these members of staff. We intend to give notice to those staff that this work, and therefore
the payments, will cease.

5.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.7.1

Contact with traders has been undertaken in order to consult them about potential changes
that would need to be made to enable to safe re-opening of the market. The original
proposals were shaped following feedback from traders. Subsequent feedback has further
altered the proposals that we bring forward in this report. This has been done with ongoing
discussions with the market representative.

5.7.2

For Long Sutton, currently there is no consensus on how we can safely and legally re-open
the market as, following discussions with Highways, there would not be a favourable

Page 70

outcome to a request for a road closure. Therefore timescales for this market re-opening
are not currently known.
6)

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7)

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3

SHDC – South Holland District Council
NABMA – National Association of British Markets
LCC – Lincolnshire County Council

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager
01775 764888
cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Y

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Market Options
Appendix B
Stall Provisions (EXEMPT)

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B APPENDIX A
DRAFT LAYOUT FOR SPALDING MARKET
Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently

Page 73

Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently

Page 74

APPENDIX D
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 21 July 2020
Council Wednesday 29th July 2020

Author:

Caroline Hannon Strategic Housing Manager

Subject

Resourcing of the Council’s Housing Development Team

Purpose:

To set out a proposal concerning the resourcing of the Council's Housing
Development service which will bring two additional Housing Development
Project Manager posts into the establishment to align with the authority’s
ambition to build new council houses and deliver new homes through its
housing companies.

Recommendation for Cabinet:
1) That the proposal to create two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts (2
FTE) within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment is supported and recommended
to Council for approval.
Recommendation(s) for Council:
2) That two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts (2 FTE) are created within
the Council’s permanent staffing establishment.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Housing Development team at South Holland District Council is a small team which
provides a number of functions including delivering new affordable homes for the HRA and
overseeing the management and delivery of new homes for the authority’s wholly owned
company Welland Homes. The type of work presently undertaken by the team includes the
following:




Identifying new business/preparing scheme feasibilities. A major part of the team’s
work includes preparing new project feasibilities. This includes a range of tasks such as
commissioning and assessing technical surveys (such as ground investigations, flood
risk assessments; topographical surveys); appointing external consultants (such as
architects and planning consultants); community/parish engagement; and preparing
financial appraisals and business cases to fulfil the necessary governance processes.
Contract negotiation.
Once schemes are approved through the necessary
governance process, there is a period of negotiation. This can include agreeing the

Page 75

specification for the homes; tendering process to select a contractor; applying for grant
funding; undertaking and assessing legal due diligence.
On-site project management.
This task includes having full oversight and
responsibility for the on-site activity. It includes full financial monitoring and risk
management to ensure that schemes are delivered safely, on budget and to a high
standard in accordance with the agreed specification. Stakeholder management with
internal colleagues, local communities, Ward Members and Homes England (where
appropriate). Responsibility for the handover process including snagging, de-snagging,
rent setting and ensuring the homes are handed over with the correct documentation in
place to allow immediate occupation.
Defects Management. Officers are responsible for ensuring contractors fulfil their
obligations relating to the contractual defects period and in-line with the property
warranty. This includes monitoring the portfolio to ensure any issues that arise posthandover are identified as defects rather than standard repairs. Officers liaise with
contractors and residents to ensure all defects are complete and undertake end of
defects inspections and oversee the retention payment release at the end of the defects
period.
Welland Homes management. The service provided to Welland Homes is wide
ranging and includes all of the aspects of housing development set out above. It also
includes appointment, oversight, monitoring and client side management of the thirdparty property managing agent. The role includes hosting and servicing the Welland
Homes board meetings and associated officer-led project group.
Sale of shared ownership dwellings. This task includes appointment, oversight and
client side management of the third party Shared Ownership Business Support partner.
It involves management of the sales programme which includes maintaining up to date
valuation advice, seeking internal approval for the initial sale price and approval of the
purchaser’s mortgage offer. The team is responsible for the appointment of a solicitor to
act on SHDC’s behalf, creation of the sales pack, acting as “client” in sales negotiation,
document signing and sealing at completion.
Maintaining Homes England partnership. Officers are responsible for maintaining
relationships with Homes England and submitting funding bids for suitable schemes.
Ensuring reporting is done quarterly and is an accurate reflection of progress. The
team ensures grant funded schemes are compliant with all funding conditions and
evidence of compliance is documented as schemes progress. Officers oversee the
annual Homes England audit of grant funded schemes.











2.0

CURRENT TEAM STRUCTURE AND PERFORMANCE

2.1

The existing Housing Development structure includes 3 full-time permanent posts.
However, the employees are working part-time and accordingly there are some existing
staff vacancies. The existing team consists of:




Housing Development Programme Manager (0.9 FTE);
Housing Development Project Manager (0.6 FTE);
Housing Development Technical Assistant (0.5 FTE).

Page 76

2.2

When additional resources are required it is possible to utilise the services of housing
development consultants. Currently, the authority is utilising one interim consultant on a
part-time basis to provide some additional capacity to the team, however, this is a more
expensive staffing solution with consultants being procured on a daily rate and a move to
permanent resourcing is proposed.

2.3

As part of a recent review of the structure and resourcing of the ‘Growth’ and ‘Property and
Delivery’ teams across the Growth and Commercialisation Directorate it has been proposed
to create capacity and generate opportunities to deliver more. This included the provision
of two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts limiting the need to procure
consultants on a daily rate and enabling the authority to deliver a broader range of housing
projects.

2.4

The main issue for the team has been one of capacity. Whilst the Housing Development
team has successfully managed eight schemes since 2017/18, as set out in the table
below, strengthening the team to fill vacant posts and recruit two new Housing
Development Project Managers is likely to enable the authority to deliver a more
comprehensive development and acquisitions programme.

Scheme
name

Delivery
vehicle

Number
of
dwellings
15

Timescale

Development
type

Progress

Walters
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

Properties
completed
2017/18

Complete

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed
2018/19

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding
Acquisition
of S106
homes from
Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

Welland
Homes

10

HRA

18

Properties
completed in
May 2019.
Properties
completed in
phases from
March 2019
to March
2020.

Small
Drove,
Weston

HRA

34

Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV.
Welland Homes
design and build
contract.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV due to
S106
agreement.
Design and build
contract.

Tennants
Close, Long
Sutton

Properties
completing in
phases from
March 2020

Page 77

Complete

Complete

Complete

Contract
Signed.
In Progress

Bentley
Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
complete

Wignals
Gate,
Holbeach

HRA

19

Properties
completing in
phases from
August 2020
through to
October 2022

Kensington
Close/
Bakewell
Street,
Donington

HRA

7

Purchase
complete

Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV due to
S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on
OMV.

Complete

Contract due
to be signed
July 2020

Complete

3

OPTIONS FOR FUTURE SERVICE DELIVERY

3.1

Officers have been exploring a number of options concerning service delivery. The
proposal to enhance the resources in the housing development team will enable the
authority to deliver a broader programme of projects.

3.2

The options considered have ranged from ‘do nothing’ (i.e. not filling vacant posts and
delivering the service with 2FTE), filling vacant posts to deliver the service with 3FTE,
procuring interim housing development staff (paid on a daily rate) and bringing new
permanent posts into the establishment.

3.3

In exploring these options, officers have given detailed consideration to:





3.4

3.5

The nature of the service, the most appropriate model for delivery,
Current resource requirement emanating from the council’s current programme of
activity in relation to the existing housing development programme;
The authority’s ambitions as identified in the Corporate Plan to build new council
houses and deliver new homes through our housing companies; and
Timescales associated with some of the potential options (notably the timescales
involved in bringing new staff into the establishment and the recruitment process).

Following consideration of all of the options, a delivery strategy is proposed based around
filling vacant posts and the creation of two additional Housing Development Project
Managers to sit within the establishment. This arrangement, would provide the team with a
total resource of 5FTE.
It is anticipated that this level of resourcing would enable the authority to continue to deliver
the existing programme and deliver schemes through an enhanced number of delivery
routes including direct development, grant funded projects and making best use of SHDC
land assets. Whilst the team is already delivering some schemes of this nature, it is only

Page 78

possible for the current resource to manage a small number of projects at any one time.
The additional resource will enable multiple schemes to be managed simultaneously.
3.6

The proposal will also build resilience into a team which only has one individual in each job
role. The service is currently susceptible to the impact of any staff absences, however
short-term they may be.

3.7

The existing Housing Development Project Manager and the two additional post holders will
report into the existing Housing Development Programme Manager. Strengthening the
team at Project Manager level will enable the existing Housing Development Programme
Manager, who has been acting as both a Programme Manager and a New Business
Project Manager, to focus solely on their substantive role.

3.8

In advance of any additional recruitment, officers will focus solely on a programme of S106
acquisitions for the HRA and market acquisitions for Welland Homes. Some limited support
will continue to be provided by an interim housing development consultant.

3.9

Whilst the recruitment of additional interim housing development consultants would be a
quicker process than bringing new permanent employees into the structure, it is felt that the
most effective use of resources and appropriate approach for the best long-term outcome
for the service would be to take the time to recruit permanent staff.

4

OPTIONS

4.1

‘Do Nothing’. Under the ‘do nothing’ option, new posts will not be brought into the
establishment. Vacant posts could be filled (subject to successful recruitment) but
additional resources beyond the 3 FTE will not be available. If the ‘do nothing’ option was
pursued, the authority can continue to have a moderate housing development programme
likely to focus on one design and build project at any time alongside a small programme of
acquisitions.

4.2

That two new Housing Development Project Manager posts are added to the
Council’s establishment (recommended).
Under this option, two new Housing
Development Project Manager posts will be added to the establishment as a means of
enabling the authority to deliver a greater number of development projects. Furthermore,
and in addition to the creation of the new posts, officers will also seek to recruit to
longstanding vacant posts within the team arising from having part-time staff employed in
full-time roles (amounting to 1.0 FTE). If all posts can be recruited to, this will increase the
resource available in the Housing Development team from 3 FTE to 5 FTE.”

5

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1

To enable the housing development team to deliver a greater number of housing projects
for Welland Homes and the HRA.

Page 79

6

EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1

It is anticipated that the major benefit, delivered through the report recommendation, will be
a level of officer resource commensurate to increasing the delivery of the authority’s
housing development programmes for the HRA and Welland Homes, that being a
programme focused on and including (but not exclusive to) the following;
 Direct development projects;
 Identifying schemes eligible for Homes England grant funding;
 Delivering permanent housing solutions for rough sleepers or those at risk of
homelessness as per any jointly produced MHCLG action plan;
 Identifying options for best use of SHDC land assets;
 Programme of acquisitions of newbuild or existing housing;
 Acquisition of land assets; and
 Preparation of a holistic Housing Development Strategy.

7

IMPLICATIONS

7.1
7.1.1

Corporate Priorities
The recommendation contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home.’
The proposal would support the “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and
aspirations.”
The recommendation supports the Council’s objective to “build more council houses”.
The recommendation supports the Council’s objective to “deliver new homes for our
residents through our housing companies”.
The recommendation supports the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the tenure.”

7.1.2
7.1.3
7.1.4
7.1.5

7.2
7.2.1
7.2.2

7.2.3
7.2.4
7.2.5
7.2.6

7.3
7.3.1

Financial
The report recommendation carries with it a number of financial implications.
The new posts will fit SHDC salary grade H and will benefit from an essential car user
allowance. The estimated total cost of both posts, including on-costs, is anticipated to be
c£101k per annum.
The posts will be funded from the HRA and for 2020/21 from the in-year HRA surplus.
New capital funded HRA housing schemes include a project management fee which can be
used to offset the salary of the new posts.
Any services provided by SHDC officers for Welland Homes are paid for by the company
and accordingly, the income from the company will offset the salary costs.
Once the new officers are in post, the authority will no longer have to rely on the services of
interim housing development professionals who provide services on a daily rate which is a
more expensive form of resource provision.
Staffing
The report carries with it staffing implications through the proposed creation of two
additional posts on the SHDC establishment and recruitment to existing vacant posts
(vacancies arising from having part-time staff employed in full-time roles).

Page 80

7.3.1

If the recommendation is supported, recruitment will commence as quickly as possible.

8
8.1

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
All

9
9.1
9.2

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
FTE – Full Time Equivalent

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

None

Caroline Hannon Strategic Housing Manager
Caroline.Hannon@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
None

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Licensing and Business Support
Manager

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 29 July 2020

(Author:

Donna Hall Licensing and Business Support Manager)

Subject

Pavement Licences

Purpose:

To consider delegating to the Lincolnshire County Council authority to
discharge all functions relating to pavement licences under sections 1 to 9 of
the Business and Planning Act 2020

Recommendations:
1) That the Lincolnshire County Council be authorised to discharge, for the South Holland
District Council area, all functions relating to pavement licences contained in sections 1 to 9
of the Business and Planning Act 2020; and
2) That the Licensing and Business Support Manager be authorised to:



make all decisions under sections 1 to 9 of the Act until such time as the County
Council formally agrees to discharge such functions; and
agree arrangements with the County Council regarding the administration of the
scheme pending such formal agreement.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Business and Planning Act 2020 received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020 and sections
1 to 9 of the Act came into effect on the same day.

1.2

Sections 1 to 9 allow local authorities to issue pavement licences to enable proprietors of
premises which sell food or drink for consumption on or off the premises to place
removable furniture on part of a highway adjacent to their premises, either to enable to
proprietor to sell or serve food or drink, or for use by customers.

1.3

The Act places this function with the District Council, but the County Council already deals
with furniture licences, mainly under Part 7A of the Highways Act 1980, and it has therefore
provisionally been agreed by each District Council within Lincolnshire that this function be
delegated to the County Council. The purpose of the new legislation is that the new
process provides a cheaper, easier and quicker way for businesses to obtain licences with
a view to businesses being able to use outdoor space during the summer.

Page 83

2.0

DELEGATION OF FUNCTION

2.1

The Business and Planning Act 2020 states that functions relating to pavement licences
are non-executive functions, and therefore any decision to delegate this function to the
County Council must be made by the full Council.

2.2

Lincolnshire County Council must also formally agree to accept any delegation. Its next
scheduled full Council meeting is not until September, although it is understood that the
County Council may call an extraordinary Council meeting in early August. Until such time
as the County Council formally agrees to accept any delegation it will be necessary for
decisions to be made by the District Council, but it is still possible for the County Council to
be involved in the administration of the process. It is therefore suggested that the
Licensing and Business Support Manager be authorised to:



make all decisions under sections 1 to 9 of the Act until such time as the County
Council formally agrees to discharge such functions; and
agree arrangements with the County Council regarding the administration of the
process pending such formal agreement.

2.3

Sections 1 to 9 expire 30 September 2021.

3.0

OPTIONS

3.1

To delegate this function to the Lincolnshire County Council. This is the preferred option.

3.2

Not to delegate this function to the Lincolnshire County Council. This option is not
recommended, but if members decide to pursue this option it is recommended that
members approve a fee of £75 per licence (the fee may be up to £100), and that the
Executive Director Commercialisation be authorised to determine all other issues, including
conditions and duration of licences.

4.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1

The Lincolnshire County Council already deals with pavement licences, mainly under Part
7A of the Highways Act 1980, and it therefore considered appropriate for the County
Council to determine pavement licences under the Business and Planning Act.

5.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

All District Councils within Lincolnshire have provisionally agreed to delegate this function
to the County Council, allowing an integrated process across the County.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be

Page 84

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.
6.1

Constitutional & Legal

6.1.1

Sections 1 to 9 of the Business and Planning Act 2020 came into effect on 22 July 2020.

6.1.2

In accordance with section 8 of the Act, the functions relating to pavement licences are
non-executive functions and cannot be dealt with by the Cabinet.

6.1.3

Under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, a local authority may arrange for the
discharge of any of their non-executive functions by another local authority.

6.2

Financial

6.2.1

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. Lincolnshire County
Council will be able to charge a fee of up to £100 per licence, but that is a matter for the
County Council to determine.

6.3

Health & Wellbeing

6.3.1

The licences are intended to assist relevant businesses to operate safely during the
pandemic.

6.4

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.4.1

The Act requires the relevant Council to consult on each application, with the consultation
period being 7 days beginning with the day after the day on which the application is made.
The period for making representations is therefore very short.

7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

All wards.

8.0

ACRONYMS

8.1

None

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

The Business and Planning Act 2020 which can be found on-line.

Donna Hall Licensing and Business Support Manager
donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 12.

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 95

Agenda Item 13.

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

